
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

 
 

 
NATIONAL COLLEGIATE ATHLETIC 
ASSOCIATION, 

  

  
Plaintiff, 

 Document Filed Electronically 

   
v.   Civil Action No. 

   
THOMAS W. CORBETT, JR., in his capacity 
as Governor of the Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania, ROB MCCORD, in his capacity 
as Treasurer of the Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania, MARK R. ZIMMER, in his 
capacity as Chairman of the Pennsylvania 
Commission on Crime and Delinquency, and 
EUGENE DEPASQUALE, in his capacity as 
Auditor General of the Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania, 

 COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY 
AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF  

  
Defendants. 

  

   
 

COMPLAINT 

1. This lawsuit arises from an attempt by the legislature of Pennsylvania to negate a 

valid contract (“Consent Decree”) between the National Collegiate Athletic Association  

(“NCAA” or the “Association”) and The Pennsylvania State University (“Penn State”), to disrupt 

interstate commerce by attempting to legislate where private parties spend their money, and to 

confiscate funds intended for the victims of child sexual abuse nationwide to be used solely for 

the benefit of Pennsylvania residents, at the direction of Pennsylvania officials.  The 

Pennsylvania Institution of Higher Education Consent Decree Endowment Act violates the 

United States Constitution and cannot be enforced. 

2. Plaintiff NCAA, by its undersigned attorneys, for its complaint states as follows: 
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NATURE OF THE ACTION 

3. This is a civil action for declaratory and injunctive relief arising under various 

provisions of the United States Constitution.  This case concerns the constitutionality of the 

Institution of Higher Education Consent Decree Endowment Act, enacted by Pennsylvania on 

February 20, 2013, and codified as “the Act of February 20, 2013, Act No. 1 of 2013.” (“Act”) 

(Attached as amended and passed by the General Assembly as Exhibit A). 

4. Plaintiff complains that the Act is unconstitutional in that it violates Article I, 

Section 10 of the United States Constitution, which provides that “No State shall … make any … 

Law impairing the Obligation of Contracts.” 

5. Plaintiff also complains that the Act is unconstitutional in that it violates the 

Takings Clause of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution, which provides “nor 

shall private property be taken for public use, without just compensation.” 

6. Plaintiff also complains that the Act is unconstitutional in that it violates Article I, 

Section 8 of the United States Constitution, which provides that “The Congress shall have Power 

… To regulate Commerce with foreign Nations, and among the several States, and with the 

Indian Tribes.” 

7. Plaintiff seeks declaratory relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201-02, the 

Declaratory Judgment Act, declaring unlawful the Pennsylvania Institution of Higher Education 

Consent Decree Endowment Act.  Plaintiff also seeks injunctive relief pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 

§ 1983, restraining Defendants from enforcing the Act against it.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

8. This Court has jurisdiction over this action under 28 U.S.C. § 1331, which confers 

original jurisdiction to federal district courts over actions arising under the Constitution or laws 

of the United States. 

Case 3:02-at-06000   Document 211   Filed 02/20/13   Page 2 of 16Case 1:13-cv-00457-YK   Document 1   Filed 02/20/13   Page 2 of 16



3 
 

9. Venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(1), because all Defendants are 

residents of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, and one or more of the Defendants resides and 

transacts official business in this District. 

PARTIES 

10. Plaintiff NCAA is a voluntary, unincorporated, national association of higher 

education institutions, with headquarters in Indianapolis, Indiana.  The NCAA seeks to govern 

intercollegiate athletic competition in a fair, safe, equitable and sportsmanlike manner, to 

promulgate and enforce uniform rules for the administration of intercollegiate athletics, and to 

integrate intercollegiate athletics into higher education so that the educational experience of the 

student-athlete is paramount. 

11. Defendant Thomas W. Corbett, Jr. is the Governor of the Commonwealth of 

Pennsylvania, and is sued in his official capacity.  The Governor is directed to take care to 

enforce the laws of the Commonwealth.   

12. Defendant Rob McCord is the Treasurer of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, 

and is sued in his official capacity.  Under the Act, Mr. McCord is directed to invest and serve as 

custodian of money secured pursuant to the Act.  Act, § 3(b)(1). 

13. Defendant Mark R. Zimmer is the Chairman of the Pennsylvania Commission on 

Crime and Delinquency, and is sued in his official capacity.  Under the Act, the Commission is 

directed to expend money secured under the Act “within [the] Commonwealth for the benefit of 

the residents of [the] Commonwealth.”  Act, § 3(b)(4). 

14. Defendant Eugene DePasquale is the Auditor General of the Commonwealth of 

Pennsylvania, and is sued in his official capacity.  Mr. DePasquale is empowered by 

Pennsylvania law to review expenditures made by Penn State.   
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RELEVANT FACTS 

Pennsylvania’s Relationship with Penn State University 

15. The Supreme Court of Pennsylvania has explained that the relationship between 

Penn State and the Commonwealth has evolved over time, “resulting in the fact that the 

University’s principal means of support are no longer state and federal funds but private and 

federal funds.”  Pa. State Univ. v. Cnty. of Centre, 532 Pa. 142, 149, 615 A.2d 303, 306-07 

(1992). 

16. Upon information and belief, Penn State’s Operating Budget for 2012-2013 is 

approximately $4.3 billion. 

17. Upon information and belief, in 2012-2013, state appropriations accounted for a 

small portion of Penn State’s incoming revenue. 

18. The Supreme Court of Pennsylvania has held that “authority to dispose of 

University property is not within the purview of the Commonwealth,” and that Penn State 

exhibits “characteristics of a nonprofit corporation chartered for educational purposes—not an 

agency of the Commonwealth.”  Pa. State Univ., 532 Pa. at 149, 615 A.2d at 307. 

19. Upon information and belief, no state appropriations are used to support 

Intercollegiate Athletics, including the football team.  The football program at Penn State 

generates revenue and profit sufficient to fund its entire program as well as most, if not all, other 

Penn State athletic programs. 

20. Upon information and belief, in 2011-2012, the Penn State football team 

generated $50,223,498 of income to Penn State, but only $17,205,605 of expenses.  The football 

team produced a profit to Penn State of $33,017,893. 

Penn State University’s Membership in the NCAA 

21. Penn State has been a member of the NCAA since 1908.   
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22. By virtue of its active membership in the NCAA, Penn State has the right to 

compete in NCAA championships, to vote on legislation and other issues before the Association, 

and to enjoy other privileges of membership designated in the constitution and bylaws of the 

Association.  NCAA 2012-13 Division I Manual art. 3.02.3.1. 

23. All members of the NCAA “accept and observe the principles set forth in the 

constitution and bylaws of the Association.”  Id. art. 3.1.1. 

24. Article 2.1 of the NCAA Constitution provides that “it is the responsibility of 

each member institution to control its intercollegiate athletics program in compliance with the 

rules and regulations of the Association.”  Id. art. 2.1.1. 

25. NCAA bylaws explain that “[f]or intercollegiate athletics to promote the character 

development of participants, to enhance the integrity of higher education and to promote civility 

in society, student-athletes, coaches, and all others associated with these athletics programs and 

events should adhere to such fundamental values as respect, fairness, civility, honesty and 

responsibility.  These values should be manifest not only in athletics participation, but also in the 

broad spectrum of activities affecting the athletics program.”  Id. art. 2.4. 

26. The NCAA’s bylaws also require “Exemplary Conduct” from coaches and 

administrators.  Id. art. 19.01.2.  Such persons “are, in the final analysis, teachers of young 

people” and “[t]heir own moral values must be so certain and positive that those younger and 

more pliable will be influenced by a fine example. Much more is expected of them than of the 

less critically placed citizen.”  Id. 

27. The NCAA’s member schools also have charged the NCAA “[t]o uphold the 

principle of institutional control of, and responsibility for, all intercollegiate sports.”  Id. art. 

1.2(b). 
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28. Members agree that a member institution that commits a “major violation” of the 

NCAA Constitution or Bylaws shall receive a severe penalty, which may include, inter alia, 

“[p]rohibition against specified competition in [a] sport,” id. art. 19.5.2(g), or a “[f]inancial 

penalty,” id. art. 19.5.2(i). 

Sexual Abuse Involving Penn State Defensive Coordinator Gerald A. Sandusky and The 
Freeh Report 

29. On November 4, 2011, the Attorney General of the Commonwealth of 

Pennsylvania (“Attorney General”) filed criminal charges against Gerald A. Sandusky 

(“Sandusky”) that included multiple counts of involuntary deviate sexual intercourse, aggravated 

indecent assault, corruption of minors, unlawful contact with minors, and endangering the 

welfare of minors. 

30. Several of the offenses occurred between 1998 and 2002, during which time 

Sandusky was either the Defensive Coordinator for the Penn State football team or a Penn State 

Professor Emeritus with unrestricted access to the University’s football facilities. 

31. The sexual abuse committed by Sandusky occurred in several states, including 

Pennsylvania and Texas. 

32. Also on November 4, 2011, the Attorney General filed criminal charges against 

Penn State’s Athletic Director and Senior Vice President for Finance and Business for failing to 

report allegations of child abuse to law enforcement and committing perjury during their 

testimony to the grand jury. 

33. On November 21, 2011, the Special Investigations Task Force of the Board of 

Trustees of Penn State University engaged former FBI director and former U.S. District Court 

Judge Louis J. Freeh to investigate circumstances surrounding the criminal charges and the 

response of University administrators to abuse allegations made against Sandusky. 
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34. The Report of the Special Investigative Counsel (“Freeh Report”) was released on 

July 12, 2012. 

35. The Freeh Report found that there had been “total and consistent disregard by the 

most senior leaders at Penn State for the safety and welfare of Sandusky’s child victims.”  Freeh 

Report at 14.  Among those singled out were the then-President of Penn State University, head 

football coach, and athletic director.   

36. The Freeh Report found that Penn State’s leaders—including its then-President, 

head football coach, and athletic director—had “repeatedly concealed critical facts relating to 

Sandusky’s child abuse from the authorities” in order to, inter alia, “avoid[] the consequences of 

bad publicity,” and because of “[a] culture of reverence for the football program that is ingrained 

at all levels of the campus community.”  Id. at 16, 17.   

The Consent Decree 

37. Shortly after the Attorney General of Pennsylvania filed criminal charges against 

various Penn State officials, the NCAA began to evaluate potential violations of NCAA rules at 

Penn State. 

38. In part to avoid a prolonged NCAA investigation and NCAA hearings, Penn State 

entered into a Consent Decree with the NCAA on July 23, 2012.  The Consent Decree (Attached 

as Exhibit C) constitutes a binding contract between the NCAA and Penn State. 

39. For purposes of the Consent Decree and resolving its violations of NCAA rules 

and regulations, Penn State accepted the findings of the Freeh Report and agreed that the 

NCAA’s “traditional investigative and administrative proceedings would be duplicative and 

unnecessary.”  Consent Decree at 1. 

40. Instead, Penn State and the NCAA agreed that the Freeh Report, as well as the 

record established by Sandusky’s criminal trial, permitted “fashioning an appropriate remedy for 
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the violations on an expedited timetable, which benefits current and future University students, 

faculty and staff.”  Id. at 1. 

41. In particular, Penn State “communicated to the NCAA that it accepts the findings 

of the Freeh Report for purposes of [the Consent Decree] and acknowledges that those facts 

constitute violations of the [NCAA’s] Constitutional and Bylaw principles.”  Id. at 2.  Penn State 

likewise formally accepted the NCAA’s conclusion that Penn State “breached the standards 

expected by and articulated in the NCAA Constitution and Bylaws.”  Id. at 2.   

42. Among other sanctions, the NCAA imposed, and Penn State agreed to pay, a 

$60 million fine, “equivalent to the approximate average of one year’s gross revenue from the 

Penn State football program, to be paid over a five-year period beginning in 2012 into an 

endowment for programs preventing child sexual abuse and/or assisting the victims of child 

sexual abuse.”  Id. at 5. 

43. On the day on which the Consent Decree was finalized, the President of Penn 

State explained that pursuant to the Consent Decree, “[t]he NCAA also mandates that Penn State 

become a national leader to help victims of child sexual assault and to promote awareness across 

our nation.”  Press Release, Penn State, President Erickson’s Statement Regarding NCAA 

Consent Decree (July 23, 2012). 

44. Penn State has continued to acknowledge that “[a]s part of the consent decree 

issued by the NCAA in the wake of child abuse charges against Jerry Sandusky, the NCAA 

mandated that Penn State become a national leader to help victims of child sexual assault across 

the nation.”  Press Release, Penn State, NCAA Task Force Sets Timeline for Endowment Fund 

(Dec. 7, 2012). 
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45. On or about September 18, 2012, prior to introduction of the Act, the NCAA 

appointed a task force to oversee the creation of the endowment funded by the fine required to be 

paid pursuant to the Consent Decree.  The task force members include the Dean of the College of 

Health and Human development at Penn State and the Vice Dean for Clinical Affairs at the Penn 

State College of Medicine.  Other members were drawn from national nonprofit organizations 

(some specializing in child advocacy), the federal government, and the NCAA membership. 

46. Penn State has explained that “[t]he task force will decide how the endowment is 

structured, develop philosophies for allocation of funds and create policies for investment and 

distribution of benefits.”  Press Release, Penn State, Penn State Sets Aside First Payment of 

NCAA Fine (Dec. 20, 2012). 

47. The Task Force established that “[a]ll funds from the fine will follow the 

endowment guidelines established by the Child Sexual Abuse Endowment Task Force and flow 

to programs designed to prevent child sexual abuse or assist the victims of child sexual abuse 

nationwide.”  Press Release, NCAA.org, Task Force Members Named to Oversee Penn State 

Endowment Fund (Sept. 18, 2012). 

48. Upon information and belief, Penn State has already paid $12 million into an 

account to be transferred to the NCAA’s endowment when it is established. 

49. Upon information and belief, Penn State has the financial ability to pay the full  

$60 million fee without using state-appropriated funds. 

50. Penn State has made clear that no state funds will be used for the endowment. 

Case 3:02-at-06000   Document 211   Filed 02/20/13   Page 9 of 16Case 1:13-cv-00457-YK   Document 1   Filed 02/20/13   Page 9 of 16



10 
 

The Institution of Higher Education Consent Decree Endowment Act 

51. On December 28, 2012, State Senator Jake Corman (“Senator Corman”) 

circulated a memorandum to other state senators entitled “NCAA Fine Endowment for 

Pennsylvania.”  (Attached as Exhibit B). 

52. As Senator Corman’s memorandum and the Act’s provisions make clear, the 

obvious and explicit purpose of the Act was to seize the NCAA’s Fine and redirect it only to 

Pennsylvania causes.  In his memorandum, Senator Corman explained: “[i]n the near future, I 

plan to introduce legislation to direct funds from penalties placed on Commonwealth supported 

institutions of higher education to Commonwealth causes.  The legislation requires that any 

institution of higher education that receives state appropriated funds and has received a penalty 

of $10 million or more from an outside governing body, must establish an endowment that will 

distribute the funds into the Commonwealth.”  The memorandum explained, in closing, that 

“[t]his legislation seeks to impact the $60 million financial penalties placed upon the Penn State 

University.” 

53. On January 16, 2013, various state senators introduced the “Institution of Higher 

Education Consent Decree Endowment Act.”  The Act applies to any “institution of higher 

education,” which is defined as “[a] postsecondary educational institution in this Commonwealth 

that receives an annual appropriation from an act of the General Assembly.”  The Act applies to 

certain transactions between an institution of higher education and a “governing body,” defined 

as “[a]n organization or legal entity with which an institution of higher education is associated 

and which body may impose a monetary penalty against the institution of higher education.”   

54. As amended and enacted, the Act provides that “[i]f an institution of higher 

education pays a monetary penalty pursuant to an agreement entered into with a governing body 
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and: (1) the monetary penalty is at least $10,000,000 in installments over a time period in excess 

of one year; and (2) the agreement provides that the monetary penalty will be used for a specific 

purpose, then the monetary penalty shall be deposited into an endowment that complies with the 

provisions of subsection (b).”   

55. As enacted, subsection (b) provides that “[t]he endowment shall be established as 

a separate trust fund in the State Treasury and the State Treasurer shall be custodian thereof.”  

The Act thus provides that money that an institution of higher education is obligated to pay to a 

private endowment or other third party instead becomes the property of the Commonwealth of 

Pennsylvania. 

56. The Act directs the Pennsylvania Commission on Crime and Delinquency to 

“expend the money of the endowment.” Act, § 3(b)(3).  The Act does not permit the NCAA, the 

NCAA Task Force, or any third party chosen by them to direct that the endowment’s funds be 

expended upon beneficiaries of their choosing. 

57. The Act specifies that “[u]nless otherwise expressly stated in the agreement, the 

funds may only be used within this Commonwealth for the benefit of the residents of this 

Commonwealth,” and only for certain specified purposes related to sexual abuse.  Act, § 3(b)(4).  

The Act thus provides that monies that a governing body intended for use nationwide may only 

be spent within the Commonwealth to benefit the residents thereof. 

58. The Act “shall apply to all monetary penalties paid or payable under agreements 

between institutions of higher education and governing bodies regardless of the payment date,” 

Act, § 5, and “shall take effect immediately,” Act, § 6.   

59. On or about January 30, 2013, Senator Corman issued a press release announcing 

that “[t]he state Senate today unanimously approved legislation … which would ensure that all 
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proceeds from Penn State’s $60 million fine are used to fund programs within Pennsylvania.  

The fine—which will go into an endowment for programs to prevent child sex abuse or help 

abuse victims—is one of a number of sanctions imposed on Penn State by the National 

Collegiate Athletic Association.”  Press Release, State Senator Jake Corman, Senate Passes 

Corman Bill to Keep Penn State Fine Money in PA (Jan. 30, 2013). 

60. The Act is intended to apply, and the Act’s sponsors have indicated it will apply, 

to the full $60 million fine that Penn State committed to pay prior to enactment of the Act. 

61. The Act is not limited to monetary penalties paid with state funds, but rather it 

applies to all monetary penalties paid by an institution of higher education—whether the funds 

come from private donations, tuition, revenues generated by athletics, or other sources—as long 

as that institution receives any state-appropriated funds. 

COUNT I 

(VIOLATION OF THE TAKINGS CLAUSE OF AMENDMENT 5 TO THE UNITED 
STATES CONSTITUTION) 

62. The foregoing Paragraphs are incorporated by reference as if set forth in full 

herein. 

63. Senator Corman’s memorandum of December 28, 2012 and his press release of 

January 30, 2013 concerning the legislation set out that the purpose of the legislation is to seize 

and control the $60 million fine that Penn State agreed to pay to the endowment to be created by 

the NCAA. 

64. The Consent Decree established a contractual obligation that Penn State pay the 

NCAA’s $60 million fine over a five-year period into an endowment to be created by the NCAA. 
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65. Both parties to the contract publicly acknowledged prior to the introduction or 

enactment of the Act that their contractual intent and expectation was for the NCAA to create an 

endowment to manage the $60 million fine. 

66. An express purpose of the Act is to “direct funds from penalties placed on 

Commonwealth supported institutions of higher education to Commonwealth causes.” 

67. Pursuant to the Act, the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania is directed to take 

possession of the funds when Penn State “pays [its] monetary penalty” to the NCAA’s 

endowment.   

68. Funds paid to the NCAA’s endowment are not owned by the Commonwealth of 

Pennsylvania. 

69. The Act, by its terms, purports to permanently appropriate to the Pennsylvania 

Treasury the full $60 million fine, even though the contract requires that the penalty be paid into 

the NCAA’s endowment. 

70. By directing Pennsylvania officials to collect and take payments to which it is not 

entitled, the Act amounts to a taking of private property without just compensation. 

COUNT II (VIOLATION OF THE CONTRACT CLAUSE, ART. I, SEC. 10 OF 
THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION) 

71. The foregoing Paragraphs are incorporated by reference as if set forth in full 

herein. 

72. Pursuant to the Consent Decree, Penn State accepted the NCAA’s conclusion that 

it breached the standards expected by and set forth in the NCAA Constitution and Bylaws by, 

inter alia, failing to protect children from a predator because senior leaders of Penn State 

concealed these activities for over a decade. 
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73. Pursuant to the Consent Decree, Penn State contractually committed to pay a fine 

of $60 million into an “endowment for programs preventing child sexual abuse and/or assisting 

the victims of child sexual abuse.”  

74. The drafters of the Act made clear that “[t]his legislation seeks to impact the 

$60 million financial penalties placed upon the Penn State University.” 

75. The avowed purpose of the Act is to disrupt Penn State’s contractual promise to 

pay the $60 million into the endowment created by the NCAA. 

76.   The NCAA and Penn State agreed that Penn State’s fine would be paid into an 

endowment that would invest in the most appropriate programs available to prevent and/or assist 

the victims of sexual abuse, without any geographic restriction.  By seizing the funds and 

restricting eligibility to benefit from the funds only to Pennsylvania programs benefiting only 

Pennsylvania residents, the Act will defeat the Consent Decree’s plain terms and frustrate the 

parties’ intended purpose. 

77. Upon information and belief, the only penalty affected by the Act is Penn State’s 

contractual promise to pay $60 million into the endowment created by the NCAA. 

78. The Act operates as a substantial impairment of Penn State’s contractual promise 

to pay $60 million into the endowment created by the NCAA. 

79. Pennsylvania has advanced no permissible justification for abridging Penn State’s 

contractual agreement with the NCAA. 

COUNT III (VIOLATION OF THE COMMERCE CLAUSE, ART. I, SEC. 8 OF 
THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION) 

80. The foregoing Paragraphs are incorporated by reference as if set forth in full 

herein. 
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81. Under the Consent Decree, Penn State committed to pay the $60 million fine 

levied by the NCAA to an endowment established by the NCAA. 

82. The NCAA-established endowment’s stated purpose is “to prevent child sexual 

abuse or assist the victims of child sexual abuse nationwide.” 

83. The Act expressly provides, however, that the “funds may only be used within 

this Commonwealth … for the benefit of the residents of this Commonwealth.” 

84. The Act, by its terms, provides that money owned by a private endowment and 

intended for use nationwide may only be used within the borders of one State. 

85. The Act, by its terms, provides that money intended to benefit individuals 

nationwide may only be used to benefit the residents of one State. 

86.  The Act, by its terms, discriminates against interstate commerce. 

87. The Act purports to regulate out-of-state transactions by out-of-state entities, such 

as the NCAA, the NCAA’s Task Force, and the NCAA-established endowment.  The Act 

therefore amounts to an impermissible extraterritorial regulation of commerce. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that this Court grant the following relief: 

(1)  A declaration that the Act is unconstitutional; 

(2)  An injunction against enforcement of the Act; 

(3)  Attorneys’ fees costs; and 

(4)  Such other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper. 
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Dated: February 20, 2013  Respectfully submitted, 

/s/ Thomas W. Scott 
OF COUNSEL, PHV to be requested: 
Everett C. Johnson, Jr. (DC No. 358446) 
J. Scott Ballenger (DC No. 465252) 
LATHAM & WATKINS LLP 
555 Eleventh Street NW 
Suite 1000 
Washington, D.C.  20004-1304 
Telephone: (202) 637-2200 
Email: everett.johnson@lw.com 

 Thomas W. Scott (PA No. 15681) 
KILLIAN & GEPHART, LLP 
218 Pine Street 
P.O. Box 886 
Harrisburg, PA 17108-0886 
Telephone: (717) 232-1851 
Email: tscott@killiangephart.com 

  Attorneys for Plaintiff 
National Collegiate Athletic Association 
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